No.: 45117-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

DAVID HYYTINEN,

Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF BREMERTON and the STATE OF
WASHINGTON, in its capacity as legal representative of
the Washington State Patrol,

Respondents.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT
DAVID HYYTINEN

Rick J Wathen, WSBA #25539
Kimberly Larsen Rider, #42736
Attorneys for Appellants

Cole | Wathen | Leid | Hall
1000 Second Avenue, Ste 1300
Seattle, WA 98104
206.622.0494
206.587.2476

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2013 OCT 25 PM 3:25
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY
DENNY

ORIGINAL

I. INTRODUCTION

The goal of equity is to do substantial justice. Equity exists to protect the interests of deserving parties from the 'harshness of strict legal rules.'¹ Washington courts embrace a long and robust tradition of applying the doctrine of equity.²

See, *Columbia Community Bank v. Newman Park, LLC*, 177 Wash 2d 566 (2013).

In 2007, the Appellant, David Hyytinen, purchased a 2002 Cadillac Escalade ("Escalade") from the Bremerton Police Department ("BPD") at a public auction. The BPD transferred title to the Escalade to Mr. Hyytinen. The State of Washington (hereinafter the "State") issued a title and registration to Mr. Hyytinen.

Four (4) years later, in 2011, Mr. Hyytinen received a letter from the Department of Licensing ("DOL") requesting a VIN inspection. Mr. Hyytinen unwittingly presented the Escalade to the Washington State Patrol ("WSP") for the VIN inspection. The WSP, without prior notice, seized and impounded the Vehicle claiming it

¹ *Rodriguez v. Sep't of Labor & Indus.*, 85 Wn.2d 49, 953, 540 P.2d 1359 (1975)(quoting *Ames v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 176 Wash. 509, 513-14, 30 P.2d 239 (1934)).

² See, *Hamm v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 151 Wn.2d 303, 326, 88 P.3d 35 (2004)(Sweeny K., dissenting.)

was stolen property. There is no dispute that Mr. Hyytinen never received written notice of the seizure and impoundment as required under RCW 46.12.725, and was not afforded due process.

According to the WSP, the BPD sold a stolen vehicle to an innocent citizen. The City of Bremerton (hereinafter the "City") claims it has no liability for selling stolen property. The BPD also claims that it is entitled to keep the money paid by Mr. Hyytinen. In essence, the BPD claims that it is entitled to keep the profits from selling stolen property. The State claims it had no duty to notify Mr. Hyytinen of the seizure and impoundment of the Escalade. Mr. Hyytinen has never been compensated for the Escalade.

Left with absolutely no other alternative, Mr. Hyytinen was forced to file suit against the City and the State in their respective legal capacities as legal representatives for the BPD and WSP, seeking to recover his damages as a result of the City selling him stolen property.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The trial court erred in granting Defendant State of Washington's Motion for Summary Judgment Dismissal on April 26, 2013. RP(04/26/13)(p. 22:8-19); A-4 – A-6.
- B. The trial court erred in granting Defendant City of Bremerton's Summary Judgment Motion for

Summary Judgment Dismissal of Plaintiff's Claims Against the City on 04/12/13. A-1 – A-3.

- C. The trial court erred in granting Defendant State of Washington, Washington State Patrol's Motion for Summary Judgment re Negligence on June 28, 2013. A-9 – A-11 and A-12 – A-13.
- D. The trial court erred in denying Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Plaintiff's Third Amended Complaint on June 14, 2013. A-7 – A-8.

III. ISSUES RELATED TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Did the trial court err in finding that the WSP had not violated Mr. Hyytinen's due process rights by failing to give statutorily required notice? (Assignment of Error A).
- B. Did the trial court err in finding that the WSP had not violated RCW 46.12.725, as a matter of law? (Assignment of Error A).
- C. Did the trial court err in concluding that the UCC four (4) year statute of limitations for contracts re sale of goods was applicable? (Assignment of Error B).
- D. Did the trial court err when it did not find that the BPD was unjustly enriched? (Assignment of Error B).
- E. Did the trial court err dismissing Plaintiff's claims of fraud and negligence against the BPD given that: (1) the claims were not time-barred; and (2) there exists a dispute of material fact? (Assignment of Error B).
- F. Did the trial court err in finding that the WSP did not negligently violate RCW § 46.12.725? (Assignment of Error C).

- G. Did the trial court err in entering a monetary judgment against Mr. Hyytinen in favor of the WSP? (Assignment of Error C).
- H. Did the trial court err by declining to allow Plaintiff from clarifying his negligence claim against the WSP? (Assignment of Error D).
- I. Did the trial court err by denying Plaintiff the right to amend his complaint to add a state claim of due process? (Assignment of Error D).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background Facts

In 2003, the BPD began a narcotics investigation during the course of which it was discovered that the subject vehicle, a 2002 Cadillac Escalade, was being used in the sale of controlled substances. CP 710, ¶¶3: 16-20. The BPD claimed that the Escalade was owned by Darryl A. Shears. CP 711, ¶4. Mr. Shears has a lengthy criminal record most notably involving possession of stolen property as well as a prior forgery conviction. CP 580. On January 28, 2004, the Kitsap County Superior Court issued a warrant allowing seizure of the Escalade pursuant to RCW 69.50.505. A-39 – A-46; CP 713-714.

On January 29, 2004, the BPD seized the Escalade from Darryl Shears on the strength of the warrant. CP 710, ¶3: 23-26 and 716.³

On January 30, 2004, Notice of Seizure and Intended Forfeiture of the Escalade was sent to Darryl Shears. CP 716. Notice was not sent to anyone else. RP (04/12/13)(p.10:24-25 and p. 11:8-13); CP 716.

On February 17, 2006, subject to Washington State's drug seizure and forfeiture laws (RCW 69.50, *et. seq.*), the Escalade was forfeited to the BPD by an Order granting the stipulated settlement reached between the parties. CP 726-27. On March 13, 2006, title to the Escalade was issued by the State of Washington to the BPD. CP 101-102; CP 728.

On June 12, 2007, the BPD placed an ad in the legal section of the Bremerton Sun newspaper advertising as follows:

THE BREMERTON POLICE DEPARTMENT
Will auction the following described seized
vehicle on June 30, 2007 at King County Auto
Auction, 6722 Pacific Highway East, Fife, WA
during their regularly monthly auction...

2002 Cadillac Escalade

³ We note that while Sergeant Plumb of the BPD states that the Escalade was seized on 01/30/04, the notice of seizure and intended forfeiture identifies the date of seizure as 01/29/04. CP 710, ¶3: 23-26; but *cf.*, CP-716.

See, CP 729.

On June 30, 2007, Mr. Hyytinen purchased the Escalade for \$21,500.00. CP 106-115; CP 730.

On July 3, 2007, title to the Escalade was issued by the State of Washington to Mr. Hyytinen. CP 334: 17-18 and CP 353. From the date of purchase in 2007 until the Escalade was wrongfully seized and impounded by the WSP in 2011, Mr. Hyytinen properly titled and registered the Escalade. CP 706, ¶2. During the duration of his control and possession of the Escalade, Mr. Hyytinen properly and continuously maintained all transaction and licensing fees associated with the ownership of a vehicle as required under Washington law. CP 707, ¶3.

On April 14, 2011, the DOL sent correspondence to Mr. Hyytinen regarding a VIN inspection requested by the WSP. CP 731-732. Mr. Hyytinen received no further correspondence from the DOL.⁴

⁴ On May 2, 2011, the DOL drafted written notification to Mr. Hyytinen that his title to the Escalade had been issued in error. CP 733-34. However, Mr. Hyytinen never received the May 2, 2011, correspondence. CP 707, ¶4. The DOL was aware that Mr. Hyytinen never received the May 2, 2011, notice as said correspondence (which the DOL resent on May 17, 2013, although *without* a certificate of mailing) was returned to the DOL by the US Post Office and marked "return to sender." CP 735-36; see also, RCW 46.12.550(1); A-26.

On July 6, 2011, Mr. Hyytinen brought the Escalade to the WSP for the requested VIN inspection. Following the VIN inspection, he was informed that the Escalade was being confiscated. Mr. Hyytinen responded as follows:

At that point, I showed them my title. That I was the legal owner of the vehicle because I had paid it off. And they [the WSP] basically just shunned that; it doesn't matter.

CP 763 (p.33:21-24)(internal citations added).

Thereafter, Detective Ian Morhous of the WSP verbally stated, “[y]ou [Hyytinen] can't take the vehicle. The vehicle is ours.”

CP 764 (p.34:1-4)(internal citations added). Det. Morhous then advised Mr. Hyytinen that an investigation would be performed. CP 764 (p.34:4-14). Because the WSP impounded the Escalade and Mr. Hyytinen was “basically left in the parking lot of the Washington State Patrol without a ride home”; he was forced to call a neighbor and spend \$40.00, in order to get home. CP 764 (p. 34:13-22).

To date, Mr. Hyytinen is without the vehicle, without the money he used to purchase the vehicle and he has not been compensated for the loss of use of the vehicle. CP 471; CP 706-707. Mr. Hyytinen, a salesperson in the pet industry, used the Escalade in his employment because “there are big heaving things

that need to be taken to customers on a whim and things that need to fit in an Escalade or SUV.” CP 597 (p.42:25 and 43:1-4).

B. The BPD’s Failure to Perform a Routine VIN Inspection Results in the Sale of Stolen Property to an Unsuspecting Member of the Public.

The BPD ran a database search and determined that the Escalade was not stolen and that the Escalade was owned by Darryl Shears. CP 711, ¶4. The BPD also ran a criminal history check on Darryl Shears and learned that he had five (5) felony convictions, two (2) of which were for possession of stolen property and one (1) for forgery. CP 580. Despite Mr. Shear’s criminal history of stolen property and forgery, the BPD failed to verify the Escalade’s ownership by performing an actual VIN examination:

Q: Can you give me your estimation as to how many VINs you’ve personally examined over the course of your career?

A: Probably hundreds.

...

Q: Did you at any point in time ever look at the VIN on the Escalade?

A: I don’t remember ever doing that.

See, CP 740 (p. 14:13-16); CP 741 (p. 19:21-25 and 20:1-7).

C. The WSP's Failure to Comply with RCW § 46.12.725 Results in the Loss of Property and Deprivation of Due Process.

The WSP failed to provide Mr. Hyytinen the written notification required by RCW § 46.12.725, within five (5) days of July 6, 2011, as to the seizure and impoundment of his vehicle. A-27. In fact, at no time has Mr. Hyytinen ever received written correspondence from the WSP, a fact that is undisputed by the WSP:

It is not contested the vehicle was seized on July 6th. It is not contested that the Patrol did not provide Mr. Hyytinen written notice that it seized the vehicle.

RP (04/26/13)(p.7:21-24);CP 707, ¶¶ 6-7.

D. Both the State and the City Received a Benefit from the Sale.

In 2006, Bremerton paid out 10% (\$2,622.50) of the Escalade's fair market value (\$26,225.00) to the State. CP 729; see also, RCW 69.50.505(9)(a);A-43. For some unknown reason, the BPD held onto the Escalade for over a year before selling it to the general public. Following the Escalade's sale to Mr. Hyytinen for \$21,500.00, Bremerton retained \$20,185.00, of the sale proceeds less the \$1,315.00, sale fee to King County Auto Auction. CP 730; see also, CP 745 (p. 34: 22-25 and p.35:1-10). Both the State of

Washington and the City of Bremerton have profited from the sale of stolen property to an innocent citizen. RCW 69.50.505(9)-(10); A-43 – A-44; CP 730.

E. Procedural History

On September 21, 2011, Plaintiff filed suit against the City. CP 1-9.

On November 3, 2011, Mr. Hyytinen filed a Standard Tort Claim Form with the City of Bremerton pursuant to the notice requirements of RCW 4.96.020. See, A-23 – A-25; CP 618-630.

On November 4, 2011, Mr. Hyytinen filed an Amended Complaint. CP 10-15.

On September 5, 2012, Mr. Hyytinen served notice of his intent to join the Washington State Patrol as a party by filing a Standard Tort Claim Form with the State of Washington pursuant to the notice requirements set forth in RCW 4.92.100. See, A-21 – A-22; CP 807-828.

On February 6, 2012, Mr. Hyytinen filed his Second Amended Complaint. CP 48-53.

On December 13, 2012, Plaintiff filed his Summons and Third Amended Complaint for Damages. CP 309-319.

On April 12, 2013, the trial court entered an order granting summary judgment in favor of the City. CP 685-87; A-1 – A-3. The trial court ruled that Plaintiff's: (1) breach of contract claims were untimely and therefore dismissed; (2) fraud and negligence claims were both untimely "in terms of the failure to file the notice of claim as well as the lack of dispute of a material fact"; and (3) unjust enrichment was both time-barred as well as barred by the fact that the claim does sound in contract." RP (04/12/13)(p. 24:20-25 and p. 25:1-4).

On 04/26/13, the trial court heard the parties' cross motions for summary judgment. CP 374-381 and CP 688-705; RP (04/26/13)(p.3:1-4). Following oral arguments, the trial court found as follows:

[I]t may be that there is, as the State has admitted today, two violations of the State's behavior under the statute, both the failure to give the written notice and the disposition of the vehicle prior to the 60 days, but without an independent cause of action, I am unable to discern how a Court can grant relief to Mr. Hyytinen.

RP (04/26/13)(p.22:13-19)(internal citation added).

Despite acknowledging that the State violated Mr. Hyytinen's due process rights and Washington seizure laws, the trial court

granted the State's motion for summary judgment. A-4 – A-6; CP 852-854; RP(04/26/13)(p. 22:8-13).

On 06/14/13, the trial court denied Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Plaintiff's Complaint in order to clarify the negligence cause of action against the WSP as well as add a state claim of violation of due process against the WSP. A-7 – A-8; CP 984-985. The trial court denied Plaintiff's Motion to Amend on three grounds: (1) timeliness; (2) futility; and (3) "there is simply no authority for the proposition that a state due process claim is any different from a federal due process claim." RP (06/14/13)(p.12:23-25 and p. 13:1-9).

On 06/28/13, the trial court granted Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment dismissal re: negligence. A-9 – A-11; CP 1067-1069.

On 06/18/13, the trial court entered judgment **against** Mr. Hyytinen in favor of the WSP. A-12 – A-13; CP 1070-1071.

V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

A. Standard of Review

An appellate court reviewing a summary judgment order must engage in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Sedwick v. Gwinn*, 73 Wash.App. 879, 884, 873 P.2d 528, 531

(1994)(referencing *Marincovich v. Tarabochia*, 114 Wash.2d 271, 274, 787 P.2d 562 (1990)). The appellate court reviews the facts and law with respect to summary judgment de novo. *Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings*, 125 Wash.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994).

The law requires that this Court resolve all questions of fact in favor of the non-moving party. Mr. Hyytinen is the absolutely innocent victim of a preposterous legal conundrum involving two police departments, the BPD and the WSP. The BPD put the Escalade into the stream of commerce after its allegedly proper investigation resulted in a determination that the Escalade was not stolen property. The WSP took the Escalade from Mr. Hyytinen saying it determined that the Escalade was a stolen vehicle. Then without notice, hearing and/or a judicial determination, the WSP released the Escalade to Canada, depriving Mr. Hyytinen of his due process right to a hearing and corresponding finding of fact as to whether the Escalade was in fact a stolen vehicle. Amazingly, both the WSP and the BPD have taken the position that they are entitled to keep Mr. Hyytinen's money. Essentially, both the State and the City claim it can profit from the sale of stolen property.

B. The WSP Violated Mr. Hyytinen's Due Process Rights.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution explicitly protects the rights of its citizens from unlawful seizures and search and seizure. U.S. CONST., amend. IV; A-14. The Takings Clause protects a citizen's constitutional rights stating: "[n]o person shall be ...deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation." U.S. CONST., amend. V; A-15. The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment provides that: "No state...shall deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws. U.S. CONST., amend. XIV, §1; A-16. The level of scrutiny required in the analysis of classifications burdening certain fundamental rights is strict scrutiny.

A Washington resident's constitutional rights are echoed under the Declaration of Rights set forth in Article 1 of the Washington State Constitution:

SECTION 3 PERSONAL RIGHTS. No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.

See, WASH. CONST. art. I, § 3; A-17.

The weight of these constitutionally protected personal liberties caused the Washington Legislature to require that state actors meet a higher standard than its federal counterpart.⁵ WASH. CONST. art. I, §§ 1,3,7,29, 30, 32; see also, A-17 – A-18.

Under Washington law, the WSP's seizure/impoundment of Mr. Hyytinen's Escalade must satisfy the standards set forth under RCW 46.12.725. Seizure and impoundment which fails to comply with the strict letter of the law constitutes an illegal taking in violation of Mr. Hyytinen's due process rights.

1. **The WSP failed to notify Mr. Hyytinen of the Escalade's seizure and impoundment as required under RCW 46.12.725.**

Under RCW 46.12.725(2), the law enforcement agency seizing a vehicle must send written notice of such impoundment, by certified mail, to all known persons claiming an interest in the vehicle. The written notice must be sent within five days of the impoundment of any vehicle and must: (1) advise the person of the fact of seizure; (2) the possible disposition of the article or articles;

⁵ The concept that states may interpret their own constitutions to expand individual rights guaranteed by the United States Constitution is a fundamental constitutional principle. The idea that the federal Constitution represents the "floor" for individual rights and that states may set the "ceiling" is beyond dispute. See, e.g., *Oregon v. Hass*, 420 U.S. 714, 719 (1975); *Lego v. Twomey*, 404 U.S. 477, 489 (1972); *Cooper v. California*, 386 U.S. 58, 62 (1967) (stating that the states have the power to impose higher standards than those required by the federal Constitution).

(3) the requirement of filing a written claim requesting notification of potential disposition; and (4) the right of the person to request a hearing to establish a claim of ownership. *Id.*

The WSP never provided Mr. Hyytinen with the **required** certified notice of his right to request a hearing to establish his claim of ownership. This fact is not disputed:

It is not contested the vehicle was seized on July 6th. It is not contested that the Patrol did not provide Mr. Hyytinen written notice that it seized the vehicle.

RP (04/26/13)(p.7:21-24); see also, CP 707, ¶ 6-7.

The WSP argues that because Mr. Hyytinen had actual notice of the Escalade's seizure and impoundment (i.e., the Escalade was confiscated at the VIN inspection), the WSP had no duty "to take any further steps to inform him of his options." CP 377:22-24.

The WSP's argument fails because Washington statute requires more. The WSP's violation of Mr. Hyytinen's due process rights divested him of his innate right to a *timely* hearing and judicial determination on his ownership interest/claims in the Escalade. As such, Mr. Hyytinen was precluded from asserting theories of ownership by right, interest and/or equity, including the following:

(1) the WSP failed to establish that the Escalade was stolen; (2) Mr. Hyytinen had good title to the Escalade given his status as a good faith buyer; (3) the court's order of 02/17/06, transferred title to the BPD. Moreover, the WSP's failure to give notice *entirely foreclosed* any opportunity to negotiate for a settlement with the purported true owner which could have included an assignment of rights of the true owner's claims against the BPD based on BPD's failure to provide notice as required under RCW 46.12.725(2) and *Moen v. Spokane City Police Dept.*, 10 Wash,App. 714, 42 P.3d 456 (2002).

(a) *The WSP has not established that the Escalade was stolen.*

Conspicuously absent throughout the entire dispute regarding Mr. Hyytinen's purchase of the Escalade is any court order or administrative policy determining that the vehicle was in fact stolen. Rather, the 02/17/06 Order, specifically forfeits the Escalade to the BPD. CP 726-27. Furthermore, the City did not believe the Escalade to be stolen:

The City did not know it was stolen. The City checked all of the information available to it. Access –and this is in Sergeant Plumb's declaration – access the DOL, WASIC/NCIC. All those agencies, that – and databases that will tell you when a vehicle's been stolen. No red flags. No issues. Everybody believes that this vehicle has clear title. There's absolutely

no evidence at all that the City in 2007, when it was sold to the plaintiff, had any knowledge that the vehicle was stolen.

RP (04/12/13)(p.9:14-23).

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