# COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

David Hyytinen, Appellant,

٧.

City of Bremerton and State of Washington, in its capacity as legal representative of the Washington State Patrol, Respondents.

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF BREMERTON

Mark E. Koontz Attorney for City of Bremerton, as Respondent

Bremerton City Attorney's Office 345 Sixth Street, Suite 600 Bremerton, WA 98337 (360) 473-2345 WSBA No. 26212

#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

This appeal involves the review of the trial court's granting a summary judgment motion. The standard of review is de novo:

The trial court should grant summary judgment if it determines, after viewing the entire record and drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, that there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The initial burden of demonstrating the absence of material facts rests with the moving party; the burden then shifts to the nonmoving party to come forward with a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial. The nonmoving party's rebuttal must involve specific facts, not speculative or conclusory statements. We review a summary judgment order de novo, from the same position as the trial court.

Deschamps v. Mason County Sheriff's Office, 123 Wn.App. 551, 557-558, 96 P.3d 413 (2004) (internal citations omitted).

B. Plaintiff's claim for breach of contract and violation of implied warranty of good title is barred by the statute of limitations.

Plaintiff's purchase of the Escalade is governed by Washington's Uniform Commercial Code, Article 2. RCW 62A.2-101, *et seq.* Plaintiff alleges that the City breached its contract with plaintiff by violating the implied warranty of good title.

RCW 62A.2-312 states that a contract of sale includes a warranty that the title conveyed shall be good and its transfer rightful. RCW 62A.2-312(1)(a). The statute of limitations for a breach of contract is four years after the cause of action accrued. RCW 62A.2-725(1). The cause of action accrues when the breach occurs, regardless of the aggrieved party's lack of knowledge of the breach. RCW 62A.2-725(2); See Western Recreational Vehicles, Inc. v. Swift Adhesives, Inc., 23 F.3d 1547 (9th Cir. 1994); see also Giraud v. Quincy Farm and Chemical, 102 Wn.App. 443, 6 P.3d 104 (2000)

In our case, delivery occurred when plaintiff took possession of the Escalade within a day or two of July 3, 2007.<sup>2</sup> CP 349-50. Therefore, plaintiff was required to file his claim by July 5, 2011. Since plaintiff filed his complaint in superior court on September 21, 2011, his claim was not filed within the four-year statute of limitations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Title filed with DOL indicates that title to the Escalade transferred on July 3, 2007. CP 353.

Plaintiff argues that the four-year statute of limitations should not bar his claim because the UCC should be liberally construed. He cites no case law supporting this argument. In fact, a court may not ignore the plain language of a statute and rewrite it even though the Legislature has intended the statute to be liberally construed. *Helenius v. Chelius*, 131 Wn.App. 421 433-34, 120 P.3d 954 (2005). The plain language of RCW 62A.2-725(2) states that the cause of action accrues when the breach occurs, regardless of the aggrieved party's lack of knowledge of the breach. RCW 62A.2-725(2).

Moreover, it is clear that the Legislature weighed the policy considerations associated with establishing a bright line four-year statute of limitations. In *Western Recreational Vehicles, Inc.* 23 F.3d 1547 (9th Cir. 1994), a trailer manufacturer (Western) brought a breach of warranty claim under Article 2 of the UCC against Swift, which sold Western an adhesive to bond the sidewalls of its trailers. *Western Recreational Vehicles, Inc.* at 1548-49. Western entered into a contact with Swift in 1984. *Id.* at 1549. In 1987 Western discovered that the adhesive was not bonding properly. *Id.* at 1549. On January 17, 1990 Western filed suit for breach of warranty against Swift. *Id.* The Ninth Circuit, interpreting RCW 62A.2-725, held that the four-year statute of limitations applies to Western's cause of action, regardless of when Western discovered the

breach. *Id.* Therefore, Western's claims were barred for any delivery of adhesive prior to January 17, 1986 – four years before the Western filed suit. *Id.* at 1550.

The Court recognized that the drafters of Article 2 weighed the policy considerations of a statute of limitations that does not allow a discovery rule. The Legislature decided that such a limitation period was preferred:

The drafters of the UCC decided that the seller's need to have some clearly defined limit on the period of its potential liability outweighed the buyer's interest in an extended warranty and reserved the benefits of an extended warranty to those who *explicitly* bargained for them.

Western Recreational Vehicles, Inc. at 1551, citing H. Sand & Co. v. Airtemp Corp., 738 F.Supp. 760, 770 (S.D.N.Y.1990) (internal quotation omitted) (emphasis in original). If this Court does not give effect to the four-year statute of limitations, it would create uncertainty in the market, which the drafters of the UCC intended to prevent.

In the alternative, plaintiff argues that the four-year statute of limitation does not apply because he did not enter into a contract with the City. He argues that since the City did not provide clear title, there was no contract. Again, plaintiff fails to cite any case law for this novel legal theory. In fact, a warranty of good title is a term in every contract for the

sale of goods. RCW 62A.2-312(1)(a). Plaintiff alleges that the City has not fulfilled that contractual obligation. If true, the City has breached the contract. As such, plaintiff is making a breach of contract claim under the UCC, and the four-year statute of limitations applies.

Since plaintiff's claim is time-barred, the Court need not address whether plaintiff has met the elements of his breach of contract/implied warranty claim.

C. <u>Plaintiff's unjust enrichment claim fails because a contractual relationship existed between the City and plaintiff.</u>

Unjust enrichment is not a cause of action. "Unjust enrichment is the method of recovery for the value of the benefit retained *absent any contractual relationship* because notions of fairness and justice require it." *Young v. Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008) (emphasis added). Recovery of unjust enrichment is only available in the absence of a contract between plaintiff and defendant. *Id.*, *Chandler v. Washington Toll Bridge Authority*, 17 Wn.2d 591, 604, 137 P.2d 97 (1943); *Washington Ass'n of Child Care Agencies v. Thompson*, 34 Wn.App. 235, 238, 660 P.2d 1129 (1983); *Bybee Farms, LLC v. Snake River Sugar Co.*, 563 F.Supp.2d 1184, 1195 (E.D.Wash. 2008). Absent an express contract, the court, in equity, recognizes a quasi-contract (or contract implied in law). *Id.* at 484. The theory is to create a contract

where one does not already exist. Plaintiff is apparently attempting to revive his breach of contract claim under the guise of unjust enrichment.

Plaintiff does not dispute that an essential element of an unjust enrichment claim is the absence of a contraction relationship. Instead, he argues that plaintiff did not have a contract with the City because the parties did not mutually agree on the essential terms of the contract. First, plaintiff has admitted that he "entered into a valid and binding contract for the purchase and sale of the vehicle." CP 311 at ¶ 3.2. Second, the essential elements of a contract are 1) the subject matter, 2) the parties, 3) the promise, 4) the terms and conditions, and 5) consideration. *Trotzer v. Vig.*, 149 Wn.App. 594, 605, 203 P.3d 1056 (2009). The stolen nature of the Escalade does not eliminate any of the elements of a contract claim. In other words, Plaintiff may not have received what he bargained for, but that does not invalidate the contract. It may entitle plaintiff to a claim for breach of contract if the claim is timely filed. However, the essential elements of the contract are present.

Since plaintiff and the City entered into a contract, plaintiff is not entitled to unjust enrichment. The Court need not address the other essential elements of unjust enrichment.

- D. <u>Plaintiff's tort claims fail because plaintiff failed to file a timely notice of claim with the City and because plaintiff cannot meet the elements of negligence and fraud.</u>
  - 1. Plaintiff failed to file a claim with the City prior to filing his lawsuit.

A plaintiff seeking damages for a tort claim against a municipality must first file a claim for damages with the municipality: "Filing a claim for damages within the time allowed by law shall be a condition precedent to the commencement of any action claiming damages." RCW 4.96.010(1). RCW 4.96.020 states as follows:

No action subject to the claim filing requirements of this section shall be commenced against any local governmental entity, or against any local governmental entity's officers, employees, or volunteers, acting in such capacity, for damages arising out of tortious conduct until sixty calendar days have elapsed after the claim has first been presented to the agent of the governing body thereof.

RCW 4.96.020.

"RCW 4.96.020(4) forbids the commencement of a tort action against a local government defendant 'until sixty days have elapsed after' the plaintiff files a claim notice with the local government entity." *Troxell v. Rainier Public School Dist. No. 307*, 154 Wn.2d 345, 347, 111 P.3d 1173 (2005). Strict compliance is required. *Id.* at 360. Dismissal of the tort action is the proper remedy for failing to comply with the notice claim requirement. *Id* at 360.

In our case, plaintiff brings two tort claims, negligence and fraud. Plaintiff filed his tort action against the Bremerton Police Department on September 21, 2011. CP 1-9. Plaintiff alleged claims of breach of contract, violation of the consumer protection act, and fraud, and he sought relief for "damages in an amount to be proven at the time of trial...". CP 1-9. On November 4, 2011, plaintiff filed his Amended Complaint adding claims of unjust enrichment and unlawful taking and adding the City of Bremerton as a defendant. CP 10-15. On February 6, 2012, plaintiff filed his Second Amended Complaint which added a claim of negligence. CP 48-53. On November 3, 2011, plaintiff filed a Standard Tort Claim Form with the City's Clerk. CP 365

Plaintiff failed to comply with RCW 4.96.020. He filed his tort action in superior court before sixty days had passed since filing his claim for damages with the City. His tort claims of negligence and fraud were properly dismissed by the trial court.

#### 2. Plaintiff cannot meet the elements of fraud.

As stated above, plaintiff's fraud claim should be dismissed because plaintiff failed to comply with RCW 4.96.020. In addition, plaintiff cannot meet at least two of the elements of fraud.

Plaintiff appears to argue that he may establish a fraud claim by merely showing that the City breached an affirmative duty to disclose a

material fact. He cites *Crisman v. Crisman*, 85 Wn.App. 15, 931 P.2d 163 (1997). He misreads *Crisman*. In *Crisman*, the plaintiff filed a claim against her brother for conversion. The brother argued that the statute of limitations had run before the complaint was filed. The Court held that in a conversion action a plaintiff may overcome the statute of limitations affirmative defense if the reason for the delay in filing was that the defendant fraudulently concealed a material fact that the defendant had a duty disclose. *Crisman* at 21-22. Fraudulent concealment only applies to defeat a statute of limitations defense, not to prove a fraud claim. Moreover, plaintiff fails to show how the City owed him an affirmative duty to disclose a material fact or that the City knew that it was concealing a material fact.

In order to establish a claim for fraud, plaintiff must prove nine elements: 1) defendant's representation of an existing fact; 2) its materiality; 3) its falsity; 4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity; 5) the speaker's intent that it be acted upon by the person to whom it is made; 6) ignorance of its falsity on the part of the person to whom the representation is addressed; 7) the latter's reliance on the truth of the representation; 8) the right to rely upon it; and 9) consequent damage. *Elcon Const., Inc. v. Eastern Washington University*, 174 Wn.2d 157, 166, 273 P.3d 965 (2012).

First, the City did not make a representation of any fact. Plaintiff did not talk to anyone from the City prior to purchasing the Escalade. CP 351 (14:3-10). Plaintiff has failed to identify any statement made by the City to anyone regarding the Escalade's title. The City simply did not make a representation of any fact to plaintiff. Plaintiff cannot meet the first element of the tort of fraud.

Plaintiff argues that this element should be ignored because BPD "by its very nature invokes public confidence." He cites no authority for this proposition. The City did not make a false statement. If the Escalade did not have a clean title as plaintiff alleges, then his claim is a breach of contract under the UCC. As stated above, that claim is time barred.

Second, even assuming that the City represented that it had valid title to the Escalade as plaintiff alleges in his complaint, the City had no knowledge of its falsity. In 2003 BPD investigated Darryl Anthony Shears for dealing narcotics. Mr. Shears used the Escalade at issue in this case to facilitate the delivery of narcotics. BPD ran the license plates of the Escalade through DOL, and DOL informed BPD that the Escalade was owned by Darryl Anthony Shears. BPD seized the Escalade pursuant to RCW 69.50.505. After seizing the Escalade, BPD input the license plate number and the VIN located on the dash into a law enforcement database. BPD received information from DOL, WACIC, and NCIC. BPD was

informed through these databases that Darryl Anthony Shears owned the Cadillac Escalade. CP 354-55 at ¶¶ 3-4.

Again, plaintiff asserts that this requirement of a fraud claim be ignored. He argues that BOD had "constructive knowledge" because of its status as a law enforcement agency. Again, he cites no authority for this novel theory.

All of the information available to the City revealed that the Escalade was not stolen and that it was legally owned by Mr. Shears. CP 354-55. Plaintiff cannot establish the fourth element that the City knew it did not have valid title to the Escalade. The trial court properly dismissed plaintiff's fraud claim.

3. Plaintiff's negligence claim fails because the City did not breach a duty of care owed to plaintiff.

As stated above, plaintiff's negligence claim should be dismissed for failure to comply with RCW 4.96.020. In addition, plaintiff cannot prove that the City owed him a duty.<sup>3</sup> Plaintiff alleges that the City owed him a duty under RCW 69.50.505(3) to notify the owner of the Escalade that it had been seized.

RCW 69.50.505 is a statute that authorizes law enforcement agencies to seize and forfeit property used in the facilitation of illegal drug

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The elements of negligence are duty, breach, proximate cause and damage or injury. *Schwartz v. Elerding*, 166 Wn.App. 608, 615 270 P.3d 630 (2012).

transactions. The statute provides for an administrative hearing for a claimant who seeks ownership of property seized by a law enforcement agency. RCW 69.50.505(5). The seizing agency must give notice to the owner of the property and the person in charge of the property:

The law enforcement agency under whose authority the seizure was made shall cause notice to be served within fifteen days following the seizure on the owner of the property seized and the person in charge thereof and any person having any known right or interest therein, including any community property interest, of the seizure and intended forfeiture of the seized property.

RCW 69.50.505(3).

BPD complied with the statute. BPD gave notice to Mr. Shears, who was the registered owner (according to DOL, NCIC and WACIC) and the person in possession of the Escalade. To the extent there is a duty imposed by RCW 69.50.505(3), the City fulfilled its duty.

However, even if the City failed to comply with RCW 69.50.505, the duty imposed by RCW 69.50.505 is to the owner of the property at the time of the seizure. BPD seized the Escalade on January 30, 2004. Plaintiff was not the owner at the time of the seizure. He did not become the owner until July 2007. Any duty under RCW 69.50.505 was owed to the owner of the vehicle on January 30, 2004, not plaintiff.

Plaintiff argues that he is in the same position as the claimant in *Moen v. Spokane City Police Department*, 110 Wn.App. 714, 42 P.3d 456

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